
 

 
You can view the agenda on the website  
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code 

 
 

 
  

To: 
 
The Chair and Members 
of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
 

 

County Hall 
Topsham Road 
Exeter 
Devon  
EX2 4QD 
 

 

Date:  30 March 2022 Contact:  Wendy Simpson 01392 384383 

Email:  wendy.simpson@devon.gov.uk 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Thursday, 7th April, 2022 
 
A meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to be held on the above date at 
2.15pm at Council Chamber, County Hall to consider the following matters. 
 
 Phil Norrey 
 Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
 PART I - OPEN COMMITTEE 

 
1 Apologies for Absence  
 

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 January 2022, attached. 
 

3 Items Requiring Urgent Attention  
 

 Items which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the meeting as 
matters of urgency. 
 

4 COVID-19 Update  
 

 Verbal update from the Director of Public Health. 
 

https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy


 PERFORMANCE AND THEME MONITORING 
 

5 Devon Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: Priorities and Outcomes Monitoring 
(Pages 9 - 10) 

 

 Report of the Director of Public Health, which reviews progress against the 
overarching priorities identified in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 
Devon 2020-2025, attached. 
 

 BOARD BUSINESS - MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 

6 Better Care Fund - Update (Pages 11 - 14) 
 

 Joint Report of the Interim Director of Integrated Care (Devon County Council and 
NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group), attached. 
 

7 Annual Health Protection Assurance Report 2020/21 (Pages 15 - 40) 
 

 Annual Health Protection Assurance Report for the Health and Wellbeing Boards 
of Devon County Council, Plymouth City Council, Torbay Council and Cornwall 
and the Isles of Scilly Councils 2020/21, attached. 
 

8 Devon Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) & Public Sectors: 
Creative Collaboration in a Pandemic  

 

 Representatives from the voluntary sector will attend and give a presentation. 
 

9 Alcohol specific admissions in under 18s & links to deprivation (Pages 41 - 46) 
 

 Public Health report, attached. 
 

10 GP Strategy Review for Devon  
 

 Presentation by Dr Paul Johnson 
 

11 CCG Update  
 

 An update from the Chair of NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group, 
attached. 
 

 OTHER MATTERS 
 

12 References from Committees  
 

None 

 

https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/strategies/
https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/strategies/


13 Scrutiny Work Programme  
 

 In order to prevent duplication, the Board will review the Council’s Scrutiny Work 
Programme. 
  
 

14 Forward Plan (Pages 47 - 48) 
 

 To review and agree the Board’s Forward Plan, attached. 
 

15 Briefing Papers, Updates & Matters for Information  
 

16 Dates of Future Meetings  
 

 Please note that dates of future meetings and conferences will be included in the 
Devon County Council meetings calendar.  
 
Meetings 
14 July 2022 
20 October 2022 
19 January 2023 
6 April 2023 
  
 

 

http://new.devon.gov.uk/democracy/committee-meetings/scrutiny-committees/scrutiny-work-programme/
http://new.devon.gov.uk/democracy/committee-meetings/scrutiny-committees/scrutiny-work-programme/


MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS 
 
Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors   
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD 
 
Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor 
parking at County Hall and bus routes. 
 
Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information 
see the Travel Devon webpages.  
 
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High 
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.  
 
Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors 
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504 
beforehand.  
 
Membership of a Committee  
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page 
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.  
 
Committee Terms of Reference  
For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on 
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee, 
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also 
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.  
 
Access to Information 
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to 
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the 
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information 
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All 
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website  
 
Public Participation 
The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public 
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of 
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public 
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting. 
 
In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District 
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is 
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda 
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice. 
 
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings 
The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart 
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the 
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages  

https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/
https://www.traveldevon.info/cycle/
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=416&MId=2487&Ver=4&info=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and 
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so, 
as directed by the Chair.  Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and 
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed. 
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic 
Services Officer in attendance.  
 
Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.  
 
Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council  
It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may 
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking 
place on that item. 
 
WiFI 
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for 
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall. 
 
Fire  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest 
available exit following the fire exit signs.  If doors fail to unlock press the Green 
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use 
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the 
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park 
behind Bellair. 
 

First Aid 
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.  
 
Mobile Phones 
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council 
Chamber 
 
Alternative Formats 

If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in 
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other 
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on 
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to 
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall, 
Exeter, EX2 4QD. 
Induction Loop available  

 
 

mailto:committee@devon.gov.uk




1 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

13/01/22 
 

 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
13 January 2022  

 
Present: 
 
Councillors J McInnes (Chair), Y Atkinson, R Croad, A Leadbetter and  
A Saywell (remote) 
Steve Brown, Director, Public Health 
Melissa Caslake, DCC (remote) 
Diana Crump, Joint Engagement Forum 
Jonathan Drew, Healthwatch Devon 
Lee Howell, Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service 
Jennie Stephens, DCC 
Simon Kerr, CCG 
 
Apologies 
 
Dr P Johnson 
 
Members attending in accordance with Standing Order 25: 
 
Councillor J Brazil (remote) 
 
 

* 31   Minutes 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 28 October 2021 be 
signed as a correct record.  
 

* 32   Items Requiring Urgent Attention 
 
There were no items requiring urgent attention. 
 

* 33   Announcements 
 
The Chair made the following announcements: 
 
(a) Mrs Mayes was welcomed, who was attending the meeting in her 

capacity as a Co-opted Member of the Council's Standards Committee 
to observe and monitor compliance with the Council’s ethical 
governance framework. 

 
(b) Dr Sarah Wollaston was the new Chair of the Integrated Care System 

for Devon, which would formally come into being on 1 July 2022. 
 

 34   Coronavirus update 
 
The Director of Public Health updated the Board on the current position 
relating to the Coronavirus. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
13/01/22 

 
 
The Deputy Director stated that the Omicron variant was more transmissible 
and although offering milder symptoms, was still impacting hospitals.  The 
latest data suggested a downward trajectory of the Omicron wave, which was 
optimistic but with schools having now returned, caution was needed. Of 
particular note with this wave was the high numbers of secondary school age 
students having antibodies from last September, aided with the vaccination 
programme.   
 
It was hoped to see a peak in the next week or so, although other variants of 
the virus were expected, therefore a degree of caution was needed. 
 
The Board were referred to the following available online data: 
 
DCC Covid-19 Dashboard: Coronavirus dashboard and data in Devon - 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
 
National Coronavirus Tracker: Daily summary | Coronavirus in the UK  
(data.gov.uk) 
 
National Coronavirus Interactive Map: Interactive Map |  
Coronavirus in the UK (data.gov.uk)  
 

* 35   Devon Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: Priorities and Outcomes 
Monitoring 
 
The Board noted the Report from the Director of Public Health on the 
performance for the Board, which monitored the priorities identified in the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Devon 2020-25. 
 
The indicator list and performance summary within the full report set out the 
priorities, indicators and indicator types, and included a trend line, highlighting 
change over time.  
 
The latest Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report, along with this paper, was 
available on the Devon Health and Wellbeing website. 
 
The Report monitored the four Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25 
priorities, and included breakdowns by local authority, district and trends over 
time. These priorities areas included:  
 

 Create opportunities for all  
 Healthy safe, strong and sustainable communities  
 Focus on mental health  
 Maintain good health for all  

 
The indicators below had all been updated since the last report to the Board: 
 

 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2

https://www.devon.gov.uk/coronavirus-advice-in-devon/coronavirus-data/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/interactive-map
http://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/jsna/health-and-wellbeing-outcomes-report


3 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

13/01/22 
 

 

Mortality Rate from Preventable Causes (Under 75), 2020 
 
The mortality rate from preventable causes for people aged under 75 per 
100,000 in Devon was 107.7. This was statistically significantly lower than the 
England rate of 140.5. There was variation in the rate across the districts in 
Devon. East Devon, Mid Devon, South Hams, Teignbridge and West Devon 
had statistically lower rates than England and Exeter, North Devon and 
Torridge had a statistically similar rate to England. 
 
Suicide Rate, 2018-20 
 
The suicide rate in Devon per 100,000 was 11.9. This was statistically worse 
than the England rate of 10.4. Exeter, Mid Devon and Teignbridge were all 
significantly statistically worse than the England rate. East Devon, North 
Devon, South Hams, Torridge and West Devon were all statistically similar to 
the England rate. 
 
Under 18s Conception Rate, 2019 
 
The under 18s conception rate in Devon per 1,000 was 11.7. This was 
statistically significantly lower than the England rate of 15.7. The Devon 
districts are statistically similar to the England rate with the exception of South 
Hams which is statistically significantly lower. 
 
Further data on mortality rates from preventable causes would be provided to 
the Board at a future date. 
 

* 36   Better Care Fund - Update 
 
(Councillor J Brazil attended in accordance with Standing Order 25(2) and 
spoke to this item.) 
 
The Board considered the Report of the Locality Director (Care and Health) 
North and East, Devon County Council and NHS Devon Clinical 
Commissioning Group as to the Better Care Fund (BCF), which covered the 
planning and activity for Devon for 2021/22 and the latest information for 
2022/23.  The Health and Wellbeing Board had oversight of the BCF and was 
accountable for its delivery. 
 
National planning requirements for the BCF were published in September 
2021 and included the requirement to submit an annual plan by 16 November.  
This was achieved subject to formal Board approval at this meeting, the Board 
having first been circulated a narrative description of the plan for comment. 
 
The report detailed the plan’s priorities for 2021/22 as follows: 

 Respond to the challenge of the Covid-19 Pandemic 
 Further embedding of discharge to assess pathways  
 Sustainability of the care market and care workforce 
 Embedding the Community Mental Health Framework 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



4 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
13/01/22 

 
 
The report also set out five new metrics introduced in 2021/22, which would 
be reported to the Board on a quarterly basis.  These metrics were: 

 Avoidable Admissions 
 Length of stay 
 Discharge to Normal Place of Residence 
 Residential Admissions 
 Reablement 

 
It was expected that the planning requirements for 2022/23 would be 
published before the start of the year. 
 
The Board and Officer discussion covered: 
 

- it was noted that there was currently a joint review of the full dementia 
pathway planned between the CCG and Devon County Council taking 
place this year; and 

- the lack of available housing for key workers particularly in rural areas. 
 
RESOLVED that the Board note and endorse the national planning 
requirements and the Plan for Devon for 2021/22. 
 

* 37   Self-harm in Children and Young People 
 
The Board received a presentation from Public Health Devon relating to self-
harm in children and young people.  The presentation covered: 
 

- National and local data; 
- Local intelligence developments – development of an exploratory tool, 

initially focussed on self-harm and suicide; 
- Wider determinants and risk factors – self-harm rates peaked in 16-24 

year old women and 25-34 year old men; 
- What are we doing? – Support for carers, Connect 5 training and 

Suicide prevention strategy; and 
- Areas for development. 

 
It was noted that Public Health Devon were working with the Devon Children 
and Families Partnership and the Board would be kept updated on that work. 
 
The Board were referred to the health needs assessment on self-harm 
(Needs Assessments - Devon Health and Wellbeing) for additional 
information. 
 
The Chair thanked Officers for the informative presentation and discussion, 
and looked forward to a further update in due course. 
 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2

https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/library/needs-assessments/


5 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

13/01/22 
 

 

* 38   Food Insecurity in Devon 
 
(Councillor J Brazil attended in accordance with Standing Order 25(2) and 
spoke to this item.) 
 
(Councillor Y Atkinson declared a personal interest in this item by virtue of 
being a Trustee of the Charity, Exeter Food Action.) 
 
The Board received the report from the Council’s Head of Communities on 
Food Insecurity and the Council’s emerging response and strategy.  
 
The Covid-19 pandemic had highlighted a range of inequalities across Devon, 
including a rise in levels of poverty and food insecurity. During the last year, 
the Council had invested over £5m in the provision of food and essential 
supplies, particularly to those families eligible for free school meals.  A further 
£5m would be available for this autumn/winter.  
 
The report highlighted that the Council should continue to work with a range of 
partners on both the long-term opportunities to learn and develop change 
alongside the short-term distribution of support from funds, such as the 
Household Support Grant. 
 
The following were the current priorities for the Council to develop in 
partnership, over the next 12 months: 
 

- Deliver the Household Support Fund to families across Devon to 31 
March 2022. 

- DCC/District Councils to commission/grant fund development of Food 
Networks in Devon, working across VCSE partners. 

- Work jointly on developing a new learning phase building on the 
experiences around food insecurity to link with wider hardship/welfare.  

- Agree common Team Devon principles for welfare/hardship/support 
and wider poverty, where helpful . 

- Develop a menu outlining a common offer with minimum expectations 
for each District area. Include consideration of digital inclusion and how 
data is shared.  

- Develop a common Team Devon strategy for this work. 
 
It was noted that the Exeter Food Action charity had linked up with FareShare, 
who were the UK’s national network of charitable food redistributor. 
 

* 39   CCG Update 
 
The Board received the report of the Chair of the NHS Devon Clinical 
Commissioning Group which provided an update on CCG business, Devon-
wide and national developments within the NHS.  It was intended to provide 
the Board with summary information to ensure Members were kept abreast of 
important developments affecting the NHS. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



6 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
13/01/22 

 
The board noted updates, particularly on: 
 

- Dr Sara Wollaston had been appointed Chair of the Integrated Care 
System for Devon (ICSD) and Jane Milligan as Chief Executive Officer 
for the new ICSD. 

- Staffing pressures across the health and care system continued; 
- The Emergency Department Survey Report - Healthwatch Devon 

 
The Board briefly discussed the following: 
 

- The merger of the RD&E and North Devon hospital trusts and 
improvements being made. 

- The value of future composite reporting to the Board from the Council, 
Adult Social Care and CCG/ICS (as with current Scrutiny reporting). 

 
* 40   References from Committees 

 
Nil 
 

* 41   Scrutiny Work Programme 
 
The Board reviewed the Council’s Scrutiny Work Programme in order to avoid 
any potential duplications. 
 

* 42   Forward Plan 
 
The Board considered the contents of the Forward Plan, as outlined below: 
 

Date Matter for Consideration 

7 April 2022 
2.15pm 

Performance / Themed Items 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy Priorities and Outcomes 
Monitoring 
Theme Based Item (TBC) 
Business / Matters for Decision 
Better Care Fund - frequency of reporting TBC 
Integrated Care Systems 
Alcohol specific admissions in under-18s and links to 
deprivation 

Homeless Reduction Act – 12 month update 
VCSE partners & the opportunities available around the 
support for Covid-19 
CCG Updates  
Other Matters 
Scrutiny Work Programme / References, Board Forward Plan, 
Briefing Papers, Updates & Matters for Information 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2

https://healthwatchdevon.co.uk/report/emergency-department-survey-report/


7 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

13/01/22 
 

 

14 July 2022, 
2.15pm 

Performance / Themed Items 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy Priorities and Outcomes 
Monitoring 
Theme Based Item (TBC) 
Business / Matters for Decision 
Better Care Fund - frequency of reporting TBC 
CCG Updates  
Self-Harm in Children & Young People update 
Other Matters 
Scrutiny Work Programme / References, Board Forward Plan, 
Briefing Papers, Updates & Matters for Information 
 

20 October 2022, 
2.15pm 

Performance / Themed Items 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy Priorities and Outcomes 
Monitoring 
Theme Based Item (TBC) 
Business / Matters for Decision 
Better Care Fund - frequency of reporting TBC 
CCG Updates  
Other Matters 
Scrutiny Work Programme / References, Board Forward Plan, 
Briefing Papers, Updates & Matters for Information 
 

19 January 2023  
 

6 April 2023  

Annual 
Reporting 

Adults Safeguarding annual report (September / December) 
Joint Commissioning Strategies – Actions Plans (Annual 
Report – December) 
JSNA / Strategy Refresh – (June) 

Other Issues  Equality & protected characteristics outcomes framework 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment  
 

 
RESOLVED that the Forward Plan be approved. 
 

* 43   Briefing Papers, Updates & Matters for Information 
 
Members of the Board received regular email bulletins directing them to items 
of interest, including research reports, policy documents, details of national/ 
regional meetings, events, consultations, campaigns and other 
correspondence. Details were available on the Devon Health and Wellbeing 
website.  
 
No items of correspondence had been received since the last meeting. 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2

https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/
https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/


8 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
13/01/22 

 
* 44   Dates of Future Meetings 

 
RESOLVED that future meetings of the Board would be held on the following 
dates. 
 
7 April 2022  
14 July 2022 
20 October 2022 
19 January 2023 
6 April 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES: 

1. Minutes should always be read in association with any Reports for a 
complete record. 

2. If the meeting has been webcast, it will be available to view on the 
webcasting site for up to 12 months from the date of the meeting 
 

*  DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 
 
The Meeting started at 2.15 pm and finished at 4.23 pm 

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Devon Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report 
 
Report of the Chief Officer for Communities, Public Health, Environment and Prosperity 
 
Recommendation: It is recommended that the Devon Health and Wellbeing Board note the updated Health and 
Wellbeing Outcomes Report. 
 
1. Context  
This paper and accompanying presentation introduces the updated outcomes report for the Devon Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
 
2. Summary of the Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report, April 2022 
 
2.1 The full Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report for April 2022, along with this paper, is available on the Devon 
Health and Wellbeing website: www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/jsna/health-andwellbeing-outcomes-report. 
The report monitors the four Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25 priorities, and includes breakdowns by 
local authority, district, and trends over time. These priorities areas include:  
 

 Create opportunities for all 

 Healthy safe, strong and sustainable communities 

 Focus on mental health 

 Maintain good health for all 
 

Seven indicators have been updated with new data and are as follows: 
 

 Alcohol-Related Admissions (Narrow), 2020/21 
 
The alcohol related admission rate per 100,000 in Devon is 424.3. This is statistically better than the England 
rate of 455.9. East Devon, Mid Devon, South Hams and West Devon are all statistically better than the 
England average and Exeter and North Devon are statistically worse. 
 

 Cancer Diagnosed at Stage 1 or 2, 2019 
 
The proportion of cancer diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 rate for Devon is 57.8%. This is statistically better than the 
England value of 55.1%. However, most areas in Devon are statistically similar to England, with only East 
Devon and Exeter performing statistically better. 
 

 Emergency Hospital Admissions for Intentional Self Harm, 2020/21 
 
The rate of emergency hospital admissions for intentional self harm in Devon is 211 per 100,000, which is 
statistically worse than the England rate of 181.2. Exeter, Mid Devon, North Devon and Torridge are all 
significantly worse than the England rate and only West Devon is statistically better. 
 

 Injuries Due to Falls, 2020/21 
 
The rate of injuries due to falls in Devon is 1662.4 per 100,000. This is statistically better than the England rate 
of 2023.0. Almost all areas in Devon are statistically better than the England rate except for North Devon and 
West Devon which are statistically similar. 
 

 Reablement Services (Effectiveness), 2020/21 
 
The proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement services in Devon is 67%. This is statistically significantly worse than the England proportion of 
79.1%. All local authority areas in Devon are also significantly worse than the England rate. 
 

 Self Reported Wellbeing (Low Happiness Score), 2020/21 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

http://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/jsna/health-andwellbeing-outcomes-report


The percentage of people self reporting low happiness was 7.2% for Devon. This is statistically significantly 
better than the England proportion of 9.2%. 
 

Please note that many outcome indicators demonstrate health and wellbeing inequalities across smaller areas 
which may not always be apparent when observing only the Devon figure.  
 
Please refer to the Devon Health and Wellbeing Outcomes report for a full list of indicators. 

 
 
3. Future developments to the Devon Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report  
 
3.1 The interactive Outcomes Reporting tool has been developed and can be found on the Devon Health and 
Wellbeing website Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report - Devon Health and Wellbeing 
 
3.2 An easy read version of the Devon Health and Wellbeing Outcomes report is also in development, with delays 
caused due to the Coronavirus global pandemic. 

 
 

4. Legal Considerations  
There are no specific legal considerations identified at this stage.  
 
5. Risk Management Considerations  
Not applicable. 
 
6. Options/Alternatives 
Not applicable. 
 
7. Public Health Impact  
The Devon Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Report is an important element of the work of the board, drawing 
together priorities from the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and evidence from the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.  This report and the related documents have a strong emphasis on public health and other relevant 
health, social care and wellbeing outcomes. A number of the outcome indicators are also drawn from the Public 
Health Outcomes Framework.  The report also includes a specific focus on health inequalities. 
 
 
Steve Brown 
Director of Public Health 
 
Electoral Divisions: All  
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health Services: Councillor J McInnes and Cabinet Member for Public 
Health, Communities and Equality: Councillor R Croad  
 
Contact for enquiries: Maria Moloney-Lucey, County Hall, Topsham Road, Exeter. EX2 4QD Tel No: (01392) 
386375 
 
Background Papers 
Nil 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5

https://www.devonhealthandwellbeing.org.uk/jsna/health-and-wellbeing-outcomes-report/


 

1 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
7 April 2022 

 

BETTER CARE FUND  - UPDATE 
 
Report of the Interim Director of Integrated Care (Devon County Council and 

NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation: 
 

1. That the Health & Wellbeing Board notes the latest performance data and 
national requirements.  

 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
 

1. Background/Introduction 
 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) is the only mandatory policy to facilitate integration 

between Health and Social Care, providing a framework for joint planning and 

commissioning. The BCF brings together ring-fenced budgets from Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) allocations, the Disabled Facilities Grant and 

funding paid to local government for adult social care services. The Health and 

Wellbeing Board has oversight of the BCF and is accountable for its delivery. 

 

2. Performance in 2021/22 

As  reported at the last Health & Wellbeing Board, government has amended the 
set of key BCF metrics in its planning for 2021/22. Latest performance for those 
metrics is as follows. 
 

2.1 Avoidable Admissions 
The NHSE figure used for avoidable admissions is based on a complex 
weighting formula using an apportionment based on full year activity, so it is not 
possible to provide an accurate current position at this time. 
 

2.2 Length of Stay 
 

 2021-22 Q3 plan 2021-22 Q4 plan 

Proportion of inpatients resident for 14 days or 
more 

13% 13% 

Proportion of inpatients resident for 21 days or 
more 

7% 7% 

 

The aim is to maintain achievement to year end as set out in the above table.  

Achievements of these targets will be challenging due to pressures including high 

 
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Committee before taking effect  

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

2 

 

demand, the complex caseload and community capacity. Latest Performance (up 

to & including January) remains as per the plan i.e.13% & 7% respectively. 
 

 

2.3 Discharge to Normal Place of Residence 

The current ambition for Devon is to achieve 92% for this target at year end.   
Latest Performance (up to & including January) remains as per the plan i.e. 92%. 

 

 

2.4 Residential Admissions 
 

Long term support needs of older people (aged 65 & over) met by admission to 

residential & nursing care homes, per 100,000 population.   

 

2019-20 

Plan 

2019-20 

Actual 

2020-21 

Actual 

2021-22 

Plan 

564 539 510 520 

 

Performance to January 2022 = 606.5 per 100,000 population (65 and over) 
 

 
 

Performance against this indicator has been static for a number of months with 
1,260 service users reported in the numerator of the indicator.   

 
 

2.5 Reablement 
 

Proportion of older people (65 & over) who were still at home 91 days after 

discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services. 

 

2019-20 Plan 2019-20 Actual 2021-22 Plan 

82.6% 85.8% 79.3% 

The plan is based on numbers achieved in the five years to 2020-21.  
Performance to January 2022 = 68.5% (466/680) 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



 

3 

 

 
 

We have seen a reducing performance trend against this indicator for about 6 
months resulting from reducing numbers in both the numerator and denominator.  
It should be noted that the performance assessment is indicative.  This metric 
focusses on a specific older persons cohort discharged into rehabilitation & 
reablement services in the period 1/10/21-31/12/21 with outcomes tracked in the 
period 1/1/22-31/3/22. 
 
 

3. National Update 
Government has indicated its intention to continue with the BCF for 2022/23 and 
in that year introduce further development of the BCF for future years. 
 
Although initially expected in March, it is understood that the national 
announcement of Planning and Reporting Guidance for 2022/23 will be published 
in May. 

 
 

Tim Golby 
Interim Director of Integrated Care 

 
Electoral Divisions:  All 
 
Cabinet Member for Adult Care and Health: Councillor James McInnes 
 
Interim Director of Integrated Care: Tim Golby 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972: LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Contact for Enquiries:  
Rebecca Harty, Head of Commissioning - Eastern Locality, NHS Devon CCG 
Tel No:  01392 675344  
Room: 2nd Floor, The Annexe, County Hall 

 
BACKGROUND PAPER             DATE       FILE REFERENCE 
Nil 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Health Protection Assurance Report for the Health and 

Wellbeing Boards of Devon County Council, Plymouth City 

Council, Torbay Council and Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly 

Councils 

 

2020/2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

March 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
  

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 2 of 26 
 

 

 

Contents 

 
 

 
 

 
1. Introduction   ........................................................... 3 

2.  Assurance arrangements ............................................. 3 

3. Prevention and control of infectious disease ............. 4 

4  Screening programmes ................................................ 8 

5 Immunisation programmes ......................................... 11 

6 Health Care Associated Infections ............................. 13 

7 Emergency planning and response ........................... 14 

8. Work Programme Priorities 2020/21- Progress ......... 15 

9. Work Programme Priorities 2021/22 .......................... 17 

11. Glossary   ......................................................... 18 

12. Appendices   ......................................................... 18 

 

 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 3 of 26 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This report provides a summary of the assurance functions of the Devon, Cornwall and Isles 

of Scilly Health Protection Committee and reviews performance for the period from 1 April 
2020 to 31 March 2021, for the Health and Wellbeing Boards of Devon County Council, 
Plymouth City Council, Torbay Council, Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles of Scilly. 
 

1.2 Due to the time lag in receiving the annual reporting data for 2020/21, the report contains 
some information in relation to activities undertaken in 2021/22, to provide a more timely 
picture of progress.   

 
1.2 The report considers the following key domains of Health Protection: 
 

• Communicable disease control and environmental hazards 

• Immunisation and screening 

• Health care associated infections and antimicrobial resistance 

• Emergency planning and response. 
 
1.3 The report sets out for each of these domains: 
 

• Assurance arrangements 

• Performance and activity during 2020/21 

• Actions taken to date against health protection priorities identified for 2020/21 

• Priorities for 2021/22. 
 
1.5 The health protection agenda in 2020/21 was dominated by the COVID-19 pandemic.  This 

report therefore focuses on the response to the pandemic, the impact on wider health 
protection activity, and work to recover screening and immunisation coverage for our 
population.   

 

2. Assurance arrangements 
 
2.1 Local authorities, through their Director of Public Health, have an assurance role to ensure 

that appropriate arrangements are in place to protect the health of their populations.   
 
2.2 The Devon and Cornwall Health Protection Committee is mandated by the Health and 

Wellbeing Boards of Devon County Council, Plymouth City Council, Torbay Council, and 
Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles of Scilly to provide assurance that adequate 
arrangements are in place for prevention, surveillance, planning, and response to 
communicable disease and environmental hazards. 

 
2.4 Summary terms of reference for the Committee and affiliated groups are listed at Appendix 

1.   
 
2.5 A summary of organisational roles in relation to delivery, surveillance and assurance is 

included at Appendix 2.   
 
2.6 A major organisational change has been the transition from Public Health England (PHE) to 

the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) which took place in October 2021.  This is outside 
the timescale for this annual report but for practical purposes the organisation is referred to 
as PHE/UKHSA throughout.   

 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 4 of 26 
 

 
 
 
 

3. Prevention and control of infectious disease 
 
3.1 At the end of December 2019, Wuhan Municipal Health Commission, China, reported a 

cluster of cases of pneumonia.  The situation escalated rapidly and on 30 January 2020 the 
Director-General of the World Health Organisation declared the novel coronavirus outbreak 
a public health emergency of international concern (PHEIC) as sporadic cases were now 
being seen across countries outside of China. 

 
3.2 By the end of January 2020 the first two cases of coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in the United 

Kingdom were confirmed and, over the course of February, single and linked cases were 
being identified across the UK and outbreaks were being confirmed across Europe, notably 
Italy, France and Spain. 

 
3.3 By mid-March 2020, as the UK Chief Medical Officers raised the risk to the UK from moderate 

to high, the first COVID-19 cases and situations in Devon and Cornwall involving single 
cases, schools and care homes were being identified.  On 26 March 2020, the UK went into 
lockdown with the instruction to Stay at Home, Protect the NHS, Save Lives. 

 
 Activity in 2020/21 
 
3.4 PHE/UKHSA, peninsula local authorities and CCGs worked in partnership to support settings 

with high-risk cases or outbreaks of COVID-19. Common settings where an outbreak 
response is required include care homes, supported living settings, early year and education 
settings, health care settings, workplaces (particularly those associated with national 
infrastructure or are otherwise high risk) prisons and homelessness settings. Table 1 shows 
the number of COVID-19 situations recorded on HPZone (PHE/UKHSA case management 
system) by principal context and local authority area in the year 2020-2021.  This will be a 
significant under representation of the number of settings reported as it does not include 
situations where the local authority led the response. For example, where the local authority 
led on providing a response to local schools or workplaces these will not be included in the 
setting figures below.   

 
Table 1 Number of Covid-19 situations recorded on PHE/UKHSA system between 1 
April 2020 – 31 March 2021 by Local Authority and setting type 
 

Local 
Authority 

Adult Care 
Home or 
Setting 

Educational 
setting (inc 
residential) 

Workplace Healthcare Other 

Cornwall 225 32 35 6 9 

Devon 341 72 42 15 20 

Plymouth  133 36 18 5 14 

Torbay 96 <5 14 <5 5 

 
 

3.5 The above includes the first Covid-19 Outbreak in the South West which occurred in Torbay 
in early March 2020, during the initial containment phase of the national pandemic response. 
 

3.6 PHE/UKHSA regional Health Protection Teams provided the specialist response to other 
infectious disease and hazard related situations across Devon and Cornwall, supported by 
local, regional and national expertise. Situations responded to alongside management of 
COVID-19 have included: 

Page 18

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 5 of 26 
 

 
 

• Gastro-intestinal outbreaks in early years, schools and residential care settings 

• Environmental exposures 

• Exposure to Brucella Canis from contact with infected canines  

• TB in the workplace 
 

  

Are of response Detail 

Public Health 
advice 

Public health advice was developed and disseminated in relation 
to the identification and management of symptoms, case and 
outbreak response, promotional campaigns, and support for all 
sectors in relation to the pandemic.   
 
Proactive support was provided through a suite of assets and 
communication tools hosted by local authority, CCG and 
PHE/UKHSA agencies.  Examples include early year and 
education setting regular webinars, care home webinars, flow 
charts communicating actions to take following possible or 
confirmed case(s), checklists and risk assessment tools. 
 

Contact tracing PHE / UKHSA, working with local authority public health teams 
and NHS Test and Trace, led the process of contact tracing, 
testing and isolation, interpreting and implementing changing 
national guidance during the phases of the pandemic 
 

Testing Area of local good practice 
 

 
 
Testing was coordinated across Devon and Cornwall by a 
regional testing strategist, bringing together clinical, 
commissioning and public health expertise regularly to review 
latest guidance and manage implementation in the most effective 
way for a geographically dispersed population.  Testing capacity 
and capability was targeted to ensure all communities were able 
to access symptomatic and asymptomatic testing services, taking 
into account the needs of those without easy access to transport, 
and vulnerable populations.   
 
Targeted community testing, including deployment of fixed and 
mobile PCR and LFD testing sites, was used to maximise testing 
uptake across the peninsula.   
 

Vaccination Area of local good practice 
 

 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 6 of 26 
 

COVID-19 and flu vaccination programmes were co-managed as 
a seasonal vaccination programme, channelling resource and 
expertise in the most effective way.  A particular focus was the 
work to identify and target areas of vaccine inequality.   
 
Health equity audits were undertaken to identify groups and areas 
of practice to be addressed.  An infection control site toolkit was 
developed, and bespoke vaccination sessions were organised for 
people who were homeless, people with a learning disability, and 
people with complex lives.  A community engagement officer, and 
a vaccine hesitancy nurse, were appointed by the CCG to support 
this work.   
 
Local authorities worked with the CCG to develop the outreach 
offer, through use of all vaccine partners – CCG, acute trusts, 
GPs and pharmacies, and use of community settings in areas of 
high deprivation and low uptake. 
 

Variants of concern PHE/UKHSA led the response to investigating single cases and 
outbreaks of variants of concern, working closely with local 
authorities to ensure containment and, in the case of Delta and 
Omicron, mitigate spread. 
 

Infection 
prevention & 
control 

Area of local good practice 1 
 

 
 

The Devonwide Community Infection Management Service 
commenced in April 2020 and has been central to the COVID 
response across the whole of Devon as well as to developments 
in wider infection prevention and control.   
 
The service operates a hub and spoke model with expertise 
based in each of the four acute hospitals in Devon reaching out to 
support the care sector.  This approach enabled more intensive 
specialist support for outbreak prevention and control than would 
be been possible before.  One particular area of innovative 
practice was the development of ‘virtual infection control tours’ 
where the team was able to walk round a care home via the 
Manager’s iPAD, and to advise on infection control measures in a 
much more practical way, for example cleaning, and PPE donning 
and doffing arrangements.   
 

Area of local good practice 2 
 

 
 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 7 of 26 
 

A small team of two infection prevention and control nurses was 
employed by Devon, Plymouth and Torbay local authorities, 
hosted by Devon, and gave infection control advice to a range of 
non-NHS settings to support the COVID response. This reached 
out to settings such as businesses, schools, factories, and 
homeless hostels.   
 
The practitioners developed a range of IPC resources including 
checklists, posters and guidance documents as well as delivering 
training and education to these settings to complement national 
resources. These included: 

• ‘Ready for Anything’, a full IPC guide to support workplaces 
and businesses beyond the pandemic, which was added to 
the Heart of the South West Growth Hub. 

• IPC information posters for events 

• IPC self-assessment checklists to support the COVID-19 
vaccination clinics, temporary accommodation for homeless 
settings, bridging hotels and education settings. 

  

PPE Area of local good practice 
 

 
 

The Devon Public Health team took a lead role, in partnership 
with PHE/UKHSA, in developing South West wide guidance in the 
use of PPE for non NHS settings.  This enabled decisions to be 
made to protect both staff and residents at a time when national 
guidance was not yet available to guide local practice.   
 

Settings based 
prevention & case 
& outbreak 
response 

Prevention and response programmes were developed for all 
settings to prevent and control outbreaks: 

• Schools and early years 

• Care homes and domiciliary care 

• Businesses & hospitality 

• Places of detention 

• Homelessness settings 
New and productive relationships were built with all sectors to 
support them to keep staff, clients and students safe, minimise 
disruption and keep premises open and functioning.     
 

Communications & 
engagement 

Area of local good practice 
 

 
 

Local Outbreak Engagement Boards in each local authority 
brought together stakeholders from health and care, education, 
business, hospitality, voluntary and community sectors, faith 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 8 of 26 
 

groups, police and other sectors to feed into local policy and 
ensure clear communications to all parts of the community.   
 
‘Covid Champions’ networks were established to influence 
communications and share key messages around COVID safe 
behaviours through professional, social and community networks.  

 
 

 
 

Surveillance Arrangements 
 
3.8 UKHSA provides a quarterly report to the Committee containing epidemiological information 

on cases and outbreaks of communicable diseases of public health importance at local 
authority level.  

 
3.9 Fortnightly bulletins are produced throughout the winter months, providing surveillance 

information on influenza and influenza-like illness and infectious intestinal disease activity, 
including norovirus.  These bulletins report information for the UKHSA (South West).  UKHSA 
also provides a list of all community outbreaks all year round.   

 
3.10 The Devon Health Protection Advisory Group, led by UKHSA and convened quarterly, 

provides a forum for stakeholders, including hospital microbiologists, environmental health 
officers, consultants in public health, water companies and infection control nurses, to share 
intelligence and any risks identified in local arrangements to manage communicable disease 
incidence. 

 
 

4 Screening programmes 
 
4.1 This section summarises some of the key developments for the individual screening 

programmes during 2020/21.   
 
4.2 All screening programmes suffered from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic to varying 

degrees with the focus during 2020/21 to support providers to safely pause programmes 
where this was necessary or required, for example due to infection, prevention and control 
reasons, and then to develop and implement detailed recovery plans to safely recommence 
screening and tackle the backlog that had developed during the pandemic to return 
programmes back to a business as usual footing.  For some programmes, this has required 
significant investment, both regional and national to increase capacity over and above 100% 
to be able to deliver screening in a COVID-19 secure manner (for example, longer 
appointments to follow PPE and IPC procedures) and to offer screening to all those 
individuals who were affected by the pause in the programmes in as timely a way as possible.  
As a consequence, this investment has been designed to build in increased capacity to 
ensure more robust and sustainable services into the future.  

 
4.3 The impact of the COVID pandemic has meant that there have been challenges meeting 

some national standards (for example, round length and coverage) and for these areas, 
action plans and improvement plans are in place alongside the recovery plans. 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 9 of 26 
 

 
4.4 The following table gives a summary of performance, challenges and developments during 

2020/21 and future developments.   
 

Screening programme: 

Bowel Both routine and surveillance programmes had to be paused at the start of 
the pandemic due to a number of factors, including IPC concerns at 
colonoscopy. Invitations were recommenced in a phased way to enable 
providers to manage flow of patients through the screening pathway and 
providers increased invitation rates and colonoscopy capacity (compared 
to pre-Covid) in order to recover backlogs. All providers met the national 
recovery ambition.  As part of the national recovery plan, bowel scope 
screening was paused and then a decision made to cease this programme. 
Any individuals who were invited to bowel scope screening but were not 
able to be screened due to the pause of services were invited to bowel 
screening. 
 
In addition to recovery, nationally, age extension of the bowel cancer 
screening programme commenced from mid May 2021. This is a 4-year 
extension programme starting with 56-year olds in 2021-22 to include 50 
year olds by 2024-25. All providers have commenced age extension to 56-
year olds with a plan to launch age 58 invites in Q1 2022/23 in line with 
national guidance, subject to regional finance allocations. 
 
It has been agreed that screening of individuals with Lynch syndrome will 
be introduced in 2023/24 with planning around process, IT systems and 
finance led nationally in 2022/23.  
 

Breast All services were affected by the pandemic with routine screening paused 
initially at the start of the pandemic due to a number of factors, including 
IPC concerns on the mobile screening vans. Screening for those at high-
risk continuing throughout. As part of the national recovery plan, the 
national Age Extension breast screening trial ceased recruiting. The 
national recovery ambition is for all providers to recover by end March 
2022. Based on current trajectories, 2 Devon providers are on track to 
recover within this timeline, one within a few weeks of this date and the 
other July 2022. Women waiting longest have been invited first and at the 
time of this report providers are inviting women within approximately 8 
weeks of their due date. Provider recovery plans have required significant 
new investment, both regional and national, to increase capacity 
sufficiently above 100% to offer screening to all individuals delayed 
screening within the national timeline. This has been able to address pre-
COVID-19 issues in staffing levels and aging equipment that will ensure 
more robust and sustainable services into the future.  
 
Until the backlog is cleared and round length is fully recovered, it is not  
possible fully to determine the impact of the pandemic on uptake and 
coverage. This is being closely monitored and text messaging has been 
introduced in all programmes as an additional reminder to women and to  
help to reduce wasted slots. Work also continues with GP practices to 
encourage ladies to attend when due. A project has been started to see 
whether an online booking solution can be developed. Providers will be 
completing the PHE/UKHSA Health Equity Assessment Tool during 
2022/23 and developing action plans. 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 10 of 26 
 

Cervical At the start of the pandemic, a national decision was made to temporarily 
pause invitations to cervical screening. All other components of the 
cervical screening pathway continued throughout albeit at reduced 
capacity for a short period. Due to social distancing and IPC requirements, 
local colposcopy teams paused seeing women with low grade referrals for 
a short period. Letter invitations for Devon and Cornwall recommenced on 
05/06/2020 and the programme has been running as expected since that 
time, with some fluctuation in laboratory turnaround time due to temporary 
staff sickness/self-isolation throughout the pandemic. This has been a 
national issue with all labs affected to some degree. 
 
Uptake data suggests that this has been stable and a project has been 
carried out to review GP practice level data and provide support and 
resources to those with lower uptake. 
  
A national pilot of self-sampling has commenced.  
 

Antenatal/ 
Neonatal 

All antenatal screening programmes were maintained throughout COVID 
as a core part of routine maternity care. All providers continue to provide a 
full service and are in the main meeting BAU national standards.   
Newborn and infant examination (NIPE) and Newborn bloodspot screening 
(NBBS) were also maintained as core part of maternity and neonatal care. 
An initial impact on the NIPE 6-week hip scan for at risk babies was fully 
recovered by the Autumn 2020.  
 
The enhanced newborn targeted Hepatitis B vaccination programme was 
successfully implemented on 01/04/2021 in all providers, meeting the 
national deadline. 
  
Non-invasive Perinatal Testing (NIPT) was successfully implemented on 
01/06/2021 in all maternity providers, meeting the national deadline.  
 
The national evaluative Severe Combined Immunodeficiency (SCID) 
programme went live on 01/09/2021. The SW is not part of this evaluative 
roll-out so babies born in the SW will not be screened for SCID and 
providers only need to be aware of implications for babies that move in at 
this stage. All the required changes in maternity, the newborn lab, CHIS 
and BCG providers have been implemented. Key implications are that 
BCG vaccination will be given around 28 days after checking the SCID 
result, and GP practices must check for a SCID result before giving 
Rotavirus vaccination (live vaccine).  
 

New-born 
Hearing  
 

There was significant disruption from COVID to the delivery of newborn 
hearing services affecting Devon and Cornwall due to the community 
model. The backlog due to COVID has been fully recovered. A further 
NHSP national assurance exercise took place during August 2021 and 
confirmed that recovery has been maintained. 
 
The Devon Local Authority Health Visitor Service gave notice to cease 
providing the first newborn hearing screen from end March 2022. A new 
provider has been identified for Devon and enhanced contracts agreed for 
Plymouth and Torbay providers. Mobilisation work is progressing, led by 
Devon CCG, to take over the service from the 01/04/2022.  
 

Diabetic Eye All services were affected by the pandemic as most venues for screening 
are in the community and GP surgeries, which had to close for long periods 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 11 of 26 
 

of time. Routine screening was paused initially, however screening for 
those at high-risk continued throughout. The national recovery ambition is 
for all providers to recover by end March 2022 (plus 6 weeks) and all 
providers are on track to recover within this timeline, and are training their 
own staff in Slit Lamp Bio-microscopy to ensure these patients are also 
seen in a timely way by April 2022. 

 
Hospital Eye Service capacity is a long-standing issue compounded by the 
impacts of COVID. Potential programme changes are being considered at 
a national level to address this including the introduction through Section 
7a of Optical Coherence Tomography. 
 
National meetings are taking place to discuss extending the screening 
interval for low-risk patients from one year to two years.  
 
All programmes have completed the PHE/UKHSA Health Equity 
Assessment Tool and action plans are being developed. 
 

Abdominal 
Aortic 
Aneurysm 
(AAA) 

All services were affected by the pandemic as most venues for screening 
are in the community and GP surgeries, which had to close for long periods 
of time. Routine screening was paused initially and screening for those at 
high-risk continued throughout. The national recovery ambition is for all 
eligible men in the 2021/22 cohort to be invited for screening by end March 
2022 (+2 months) in line with the national standard and all providers are 
on track to recover within this timeline. Investment to support recovery has 
led to increased capacity through funding additional staff, equipment and 
venue hire.  
 
All programmes have tracked the progress of each referral made to 
vascular surgery and taken action actively to manage any delays to 
assessment or subsequent treatment. However, meeting national quality 
targets is challenging due to ongoing pressures in Acute Trusts, including 
theatre space and ICU beds. 

 
All programmes have completed the PHE/UKHSA Health Equity 
Assessment Tool and action plans are being developed. 
 

 
 

5 Immunisation programmes 
 
 
5.1 This section summarises some of the key developments for the individual immunisation 

programmes during 2020/21.   
 
5.2    National pandemic guidance prioritised the continuation of all immunisation programmes to 

ensure that public health protection was maintained and outbreaks of vaccine preventable 
diseases were prevented.  

 
5.3 The impact of the COVID pandemic has meant that there have been challenges meeting 

some national standards in some programmes (for example, recommended intervals 
between doses and coverage) and for these areas, action plans and improvement plans are 
in place alongside the recovery plans.  

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 12 of 26 
 

5.4 The following table gives a summary of performance, challenges and developments during 
2020/21 and future developments.   

 

Immunisation programme: 

Primary 
childhood 
immunisations 
 

All practices continued to deliver the routine child immunisation 
programmes throughout the pandemic. Routine data collections that 
monitor uptake and coverage (COVER) do not provide timely data so 
the SW Screening and Immunisation Team worked with the Child 
Health Information Services to develop new real-time data sets that 
have enabled close monitoring of the impact of the pandemic. These 
have shown that uptake of primary immunisations has been 
maintained. Annual COVER data for 2021/22 is also reassuring. The 
real-time datasets however do show that for immunisations at 12 
months of age and at 3 years 4 months a larger proportion of children 
are not immunised as close to the age of eligibility as is recommended. 
Further investigations will be taking place and improvement plans put 
in place as necessary.  
 

School-aged 
immunisations 
 

The SAI programme has been severely impacted by the pandemic 
due to the initial lockdown, the second wave of school closures, and 
ongoing outbreaks that have prevented immunisation teams attending 
schools for clinics. These factors prevented the 2019/20 programme 
being completed in the Spring and Summer terms 2020 and have 
continued to impact delivery of the 2020/21 programme. In addition, 
the COVID vaccination programme for 12-15s and the expanded flu 
vaccination programme has impacted the 2021/22 programme. Both 
DCIOS providers restarted immunisation clinics during the first COVID 
lockdown have worked hard to deliver as much of the routine 
programme as possible as well as catch-up clinics over the summer 
periods. The aim is to complete the routine programme for those in 
2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 cohorts by the end August 2022.  
 
The Cornwall programme had nearly completed the routine 
programme at the time of the first lockdown in 2020 and was able to 
achieve expected uptake levels for the 2019/20 cohort. Uptake for the 
2020/21 cohort are also good.  
 
The Devon programme was significantly disrupted by the first 
lockdown has had large numbers of clinics due in the Spring/Summer 
2020 terms and due to the ongoing challenges with delivery of the 
routine programme and catch-up clinics. The provider was also 
heavily impacted by involvement in the delivery of the covid 
programme for 12-15s. Uptake at this stage is therefore lower and it is 
hoped will improve by the end August 2022. Work is still underway to 
complete HPV for the 2020/21 cohort, which is the clinical priority and 
some second doses may extend into the coming academic year. 
 
Business cases are being developed to expand the provider 
workforce to achieve the ambition to complete the routine programme 
for those in 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 cohorts by the end August 
2022. 
 

Vaccinations in 
pregnancy 
 

Vaccination has continued throughout the pandemic in maternity and 
GP setting, however, maternity providers have reported significant 
challenges in delivering vaccines due to ongoing workforce pressures 
with staff regularly diverted to cover clinical duties. As a consequence, 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 13 of 26 
 

flu vaccines delivered in antenatal settings are below levels in 
previous years. There are also ongoing challenges with data quality 
as vaccinations given in maternity need to flow to GP practices so 
these can be recorded in the medical record and captured in 
IMMFORM that is the source of routine reporting. Most Trusts are now 
using NIVS for flu vaccinations that helps with data flows to GPs 
however this is not the case for pertussis vaccinations. Work to 
improve data flows is ongoing. 
 

Older people 
immunisations  
 

Singles and pneumococcal immunisations for older people have been 
maintained throughout the pandemic. However, as this group was 
advised to self-isolate (and many will have been in the group 
recommended to shield) the offer of these vaccinations is likely to have 
been disrupted. To mitigate against this the eligibility for the vaccination 
was temporarily extended nationally for those that would have turned 
80 during 2020/21 to enable them to access the vaccination.   
 
The Screening and Immunisation Team has undertaken work to identify 
practices with lower uptake, developed a toolkit to support improving 
uptake and has run a communications campaign to encourage those 
aged 70-80 years old to attend for vaccination. This work is ongoing. 
 
Low levels of pneumococcal vaccinations continue due to global 
shortages of vaccine, and national prioritisation advice is in place to 
support GP practices. 
 

Flu 
immunisations 
 

The flu vaccination programme has continued to be a priority during the 
2020/21 and 2021/22 programmes with extension to the eligible groups 
(2021/22 addition of years 8-11 and those aged 50-64byears) placing 
pressure on GP practices and Schools immunisation providers at the 
same time as delivering the COVID vaccination programme. Delivery 
through community pharmacy has expanded to support the 
programme.  
 
Multi-agency arrangements were established in Devon and Cornwall to 
manage the delivery of the seasonal vaccination programmes including 
both COVID-19 and influenza.   
 

 
 

6 Health Care Associated Infections 
 
 
6.1 The following table summarises the key performance position and developments for health 

care associated infections over 2020/21. Note that targets were relaxed due to the pandemic. 
 

Infection type: 
MRSA Devon:  There were 8 cases over 2020/21, for an overall rate of 

0.68/100,000. The majority or MRSA cases were community-
associated and unlinked.  
 
Cornwall: There were a total of 5 cases over 2020/21, an overall 
rate of 0.89/100,000. Two cases were inpatients with previous 
MRSA history and the remaining three cases were unlinked.  
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 14 of 26 
 

MSSA 
 

Devon:  There were 312 cases over 2020/21, for an overall rate of 
26.4/100,000.  MSSA bacteraemia rates continued to be steady, 
with higher variability in NDHT and TSDFT due to the smaller 
population in these areas.   
 
Cornwall:  There were a total of 138 cases over 2020/21, with an 
overall rate of and 24.5/100,000. 11 cases below the incidence of 
previous year 2019-20.  
 

C. difficile 
Infection 
 

Devon: There were 311 cases over 2020/21, for an overall rate of 
26.3/100,000.  During 2020/21 there was limited scope for 
investigation and analysis of community cases, despite the new 
team set up to do so; this is due to that team having to pivot to 
offering pandemic support. Cases did not rise significantly during 
this year.  
 
Cornwall: There were a total of 192 cases over 2020/21, an 
overall rate of 34.1/100,000, a total of 44 cases above threshold. 
Limited scope for investigation due to COVID-19 pandemic 
pressures, employment of C. diff investigative members of staff 
started in February 2021.  
 

E. coli 
Bacteraemia 

 

Devon: There were 1009 cases over 2020/21, for an overall rate 
of 85.0/100,000.  Projects for E. coli reduction have been limited 
by the necessities of the pandemic response.  
 
Cornwall: There were a total of 438 cases over 2020/21, an 
overall rate of 77.7/100,000. General GNBSI and E. coli reduction 
were limited due to system pressures and COVID-19 pandemic.  
 

Antimicrobial 
resistance  

Devon: AMR group meetings recommenced in the latter half of 
2020/21, however the Chair and primary care lead for the group 
stood down during 2020/21 and this, along with the impact of the 
pandemic, limited action during the year.   
 
Cornwall: The AMR planning and delivery group held two 
meetings in 2020/21, but due to system pressures and COVID-19 
pandemic were not held as regularly as hoped. Cornwall Antibiotic 
Resistance Group (CARG) continued to operate during 2020/21 
where possible, as a ‘one health’ group with representation from 
human and animal health sectors.  
 

 
6.2 The key challenges for 2021/22 include strengthening the antimicrobial resistance 

programme, continuing to support the COVID-19 response, implementing E. coli & C. 
difficile reduction strategies, and ensuring consistent information and analysis from 
community infections.   

 
 

7 Emergency planning and response 
 
 
7.1 Emergency planning was dominated during 2020/21 by the response to the pandemic.  This 

involved a very substantial amount of work during the year and substantially challenged our 
systems to deliver.  In summary the response involved: 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 15 of 26 
 

  

• Activation of emergency structures 

• A strategic co-ordinating group was established to manage the local response in 
support of the UK’s response to COVID-19.  This SCG structure ensured the effective 
co-ordination of the Local Resilience Forum and other specialist resources. 

• To maximise co-ordination across the Peninsula, one Tactical Co-ordinating Group 
for DCIOS was established rather than four across the area. 

• Organisations across DCIOS stood up their incident management structures and 
held desk-top exercises. 

• With the need for local multi-agency working groups to respond to COVID-19 below 
the level of the LRF-wide Tactical Co-ordinating Group (TCG), local Operational 
Incident Cells were also established. 

• Logistical supply chains were set up for obtaining and co-ordinating PPE supplies. 

• The South West Regional Strategic Coordination Group instigated in response to the 
pandemic will be further developed as a concept post COVID-19.  

 
7.2 In addition to the pandemic response there were a number of other events during 2020/21: 

• Large fire in Cornwall which required a health and public health response 

• Flash flooding in Barnstaple 

• XR day of action event. 
 
7.3 Despite the pandemic, local and regional exercises were held over the period. 
 

7.4 It is safe to say that the year 2020/21 saw unprecedented challenges across health and 
social care systems. The primary focus was on responding and adapting to the issues 
and risks that arose, from which substantial learning, improvement and good practice has 
been, and continues to be, identified.  Our EPRR professionals have met this challenge. 

 
  

8. Work Programme Priorities 2020/21- Progress 
 
8.1 Progress against 2020/21 priorities is set out below.   

 
 

 Priority Progress on delivery 

1 Continue to support the COVID-19 
pandemic through national, regional 
and local response, preventing 
disease transmission and 
responding to situations and 
outbreaks.  Locally this will be 
delivered through the Local 
Outbreak Management Plans and 
associated local Health Protection 
and Local Engagement Boards. 
 

The whole system worked together to deliver 
a comprehensive COVID-19 prevention and 
response programme.   
 
Local Outbreak Management Plans were 
developed and revised through each 
pandemic phase, guiding local action.   

2 Support the implementation of 
emerging interventions aimed at 
reducing COVID-19 transmission. 
 

This work has focused on the vaccine roll out 
programme, ensuring high levels of uptake 
across the population and specifically in 
target groups where uptake is traditionally 
lower.   
 
Work has also continued to promote and 
support delivery of the community testing 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 16 of 26 
 

programme, ensuring PCR and LFD testing is 
available and signposted for symptomatic 
and asymptomatic individuals.   
 
UKHSA and Local Authority public health 
teams have also supported surveillance 
initiatives such as waste water testing, and 
variant response including surge testing.   

3 Work with our partners across the 
system to identify, mitigate and 
monitor for the effects of COVID-19 
on the health protection system and 
the services it delivers. 
 

Under the Local Authority COVID-19 Health 
Protection Boards, all partners worked 
collaboratively to put in place systems for 
prevention, early identification, advice and 
guidance, response and engagement.   
 
Monitoring of COVID-19 impact has taken 
place at a number of levels, through daily 
system business information reporting, 
identification of trends, and information to 
monitor impact and inform the pandemic 
recovery.   

4 Work with our partners across the 
health protection system to support 
the restoration of key health 
protection public health services and 
activities disrupted by COVID-19. 
 

The pandemic continued in acute phase 
throughout 2020/21, with recovery activities 
largely postponed into 2022.  However the 
joint work on the COVID response laid 
foundations for greater post pandemic 
resilience and effective partnership working 
to address all areas of health protection.   
 
Work to recover screening and immunisation 
services progressed during the year and all 
services have returned to normal operation or 
are on track to do so.   
 
New systems to tackle foodborne diseases 
were put in place via an MoU between 
UKHSA and Local Authority Environmental 
Health teams, and new systems to identify 
and manage infectious disease outbreaks in 
care homes are being introduced.     
 

5 Work with our partners across the 
health protection system to support 
the restoration of the screening 
programmes disrupted by COVID-
19. 
 

 
 
NHSEI and the PHE Screening and 
Immunisation Team worked closely with all 
screening providers to ensure that backlogs 
were cleared by the national recovery targets. 
Apart from a few exceptions this has been 
achieved ahead of, or will be achieved by, 
these targets. Progress is being actively 
monitored and plans are in place.  
 

6 Work with our partners across the 
health protection system to support 
the recovery of the immunisation 
programmes disrupted by COVID-
19. 
 

7 Continue efforts to ensure high 
uptake of flu vaccinations locally, 
particularly amongst at risk groups 
and frontline health and social care 

The system ran a very successful flu 
vaccination programme with higher rates of 
uptake in all groups in all localities.  This sat 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 17 of 26 
 

workers, and to support effective roll-
out to the Year 7 primary school 
cohort and other additional cohorts 
that may be recommended.  Efforts 
will be directed through regional and 
local flu groups and networks. 
 

alongside the COVID-19 vaccination 
programme which also achieved high uptake.    

8 All members support the ongoing 
local action following declaration of a 
climate change emergency. 
 

All areas continued with strong organisational 
commitment to the delivery of published 
plans to address climate change, working 
with statutory, voluntary and commercial 
partners across local systems.    
 

 
 

 

9. Work Programme Priorities 2021/22   
 

 
9.1 Priorities agreed by Health Protection Committee members for 2021/22 were to: 
 
 

1   Maintain response to COVID-19 and ensure preparedness and resilience to respond to 
future pandemics or health protection emergencies.  As part of this, lead efforts to target 
vaccination inequalities 

 
2   Recover screening and immunisation programme delivery, coverage and uptake 
 
3   Embed and strengthen community infection management services to prevent and 

respond to infections throughout the community 
 
4   Work to reduce the incidence of healthcare associated infections and to tackle 

antimicrobial resistance across our communities 
 
5 Focus efforts to address health inequalities, in particular health protection pathways for 

migrant and homeless communities 
 
6  Maintain a focus on local action to address the climate emergency. 
 

 
 
 

10.  Authors 

 
Alastair Harlow, NHS Devon  
Ami Butler, NHS Kernow 
Dr Alison Mackenzie, NHS England and NHS Improvement  
Lex Gainsbury, UK Health Security Agency 
Neil Vine, NHSEI (emergency planning) 
Julia Chisnell, Torbay Council, in association with all members of the Devon and Cornwall 
Health Protection Committee 
With thanks to Duncan Webster, working with Torbay Council Public Health, for the 
screening and immunisation tables 

 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 18 of 26 
 

11. Glossary 
 

 AMR Antimicrobial resistance 
 CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 
 E. coli Escherichia Coli 
 HPV Human papillomavirus testing (for risk of developing cervical cancer) 
 IPC Infection Prevention and Control 
 MMR Measles, Mumps and Rubella (immunisation) 
 MRSA Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus 
 MSSA Methicillin sensitive Staphylococcus aureus 
 NEW Devon CCG Northern, Eastern and Western Devon Clinical Commissioning Group 
 NHSEI NHS England and NHS Improvement 
 NIPE New-born Infant Physical Examination 
 PHE Public Health England 
 PPE Personal Protective Equipment  
 SCID Severe Combined Immunodeficiency  
 UKHSA UK Health Security Agency 

 

12. Appendices 
 

 
Appendix 1  Health Protection Committee terms of reference & affiliated 

groups 
 
Appendix 2 Roles in relation to delivery, surveillance and assurance  
 
Appendix 3 Immunisation performance 2020/21 
 
Appendix 4 Screening performance 2020/21 
 

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 19 of 26 
 

Appendix 1  
 

Health Protection Committee  
Summary terms of reference & affiliated groups 

 
Membership of the Committee: 
 

• Local Authority Public Health 

• Public Health England (PHE), now UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) 

• NHS England & Improvement (NHSEI)  

• NHS Devon and Cornwall Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG).   
 

Meetings of the Health Protection Committee are held quarterly. 
 
A number of groups sit alongside the Health Protection Committee with remits for: 
 

• Infection Prevention and Control 

• Antimicrobial Stewardship  

• Immunisation 

• Screening 

• Seasonal vaccination 

• Emergency planning (including Local Resilience Forums) 

• Migrant and Refugee health  

• TB & Hepatitis. 
 
All oversight groups have Terms of Reference and clear escalation routes to ensure accountability 
both within NHS England and Public Health England / UKHSA and into individual partner 
organisations. 
 
NHSE, PHE / UKHSA and CCG provide quarterly performance, surveillance, and assurance reports 
to the Health Protection Committee.  
 
The Local Authority lead officers review surveillance and performance monitoring information to 
identify health protection risks and/or under performance prior to committee meetings.  Officers are 
responsible for liaising with relevant partners to ensure that actions have been agreed to mitigate 
against any identified risks, or to improve performance.  The outcomes of these discussions are 
formally reported to the Health Protection Committee for consideration and agreement. 

  

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 20 of 26 
 

 
Appendix 2 

 
Definition of roles and arrangements in relation to delivery, 

surveillance and assurance  
 

 
Prevention and control of infectious disease 
 
 
Normal working arrangements are described in the paragraphs below.  During the pandemic there 
has been an enhanced response to infectious disease, with additional responsibilities taken on by 
Local Authority Public Health teams in relation to COVID-19 tracing, isolation and containment, 
funded in part through the national Contain and Outbreak Management Fund.   
 
Public Health England (now UKHSA) health protection teams lead the epidemiological investigation 
and the specialist health protection response to public health outbreaks or incidents.  They have 
responsibility for declaring a health protection incident, major or otherwise and are supported by 
local, regional and national expertise. 
 

NHS England / Improvement is responsible for managing and overseeing the NHS response to any 

incident that threatens the public’s health.  They are also responsible for ensuring that their 

contracted providers deliver an appropriate clinical response. 

 
Clinical Commissioning Groups ensure, through contractual arrangements with provider 
organisations, that healthcare resources are made available to respond to health protection incidents 
or outbreaks. 
 
Local Authorities, through the Director of Public Health or their designate, has overall responsibility 
for strategic oversight of an incident or outbreak which has an impact on their population’s health.  
They should ensure that an appropriate response is put in place by NHSE/I and UKHSA, supported 
by the local Clinical Commissioning Group.  In addition they must be assured that the local health 
protection system response is robust and that risks have been identified, are mitigated against, and 
adequately controlled. 
 
Public Health England / UKHSA provides a quarterly report to the Committee containing 
epidemiological information on cases and outbreaks of communicable diseases of public health 
importance at local authority level.  
 
Surveillance information on influenza and influenza-like illness and infectious intestinal disease 
activity, including norovirus, are published during the Winter months.  These bulletins report 
information for the Public Health England Centre geography (Devon, Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, 
and Somerset).  Public Health England also provides a list of all community outbreaks all year round.   
 
The Devon Health Protection Advisory Group, led by Public Health England and convened quarterly, 
provides a forum for stakeholders, including hospital microbiologists, environmental health officers, 
consultants in public health, water companies and infection control nurses, to share intelligence and 
any risks identified in local arrangements to manage communicable disease incidence. 
 

 
 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 21 of 26 
 

 
Screening and Immunisation 
 
Population Screening and Immunisation programmes are commissioned by NHS England and 
Improvement under what is known as the Section 7A agreement.  There are 20 population 
immunisation programmes and 11 population screening programmes.  These programmes cover 
the whole life course from antenatal to elderly persons and, in any one year, approximately 70% of 
the population will become eligible for at least one immunisation or screening test.  These 
programmes are a core element of prevention and early diagnosis and offer opportunities for 
accessing populations to improve wider health and wellbeing. 
 
NHS England is the lead commissioner for all immunisation and screening programmes except the 
six antenatal and new-born programmes that are part of the CCG Maternity Payment Pathway 
arrangements, although NHS England remains the accountable commissioner. 
 
Public Health England has been responsible for setting national screening and immunisation policy 
and standards through expert groups (the National Screening Committee and Joint Committee on 
Vaccination and Immunisation).  At a local level, specialist public health staff in Screening and 
Immunisation Teams, employed by NHSE/I, work alongside NHS England Public Health 
Commissioning colleagues to provide accountability for the commissioning of the programmes and 
system leadership. 
 
Local Authorities, through the Director of Public Health, are responsible for seeking assurance that 
screening and immunisation services are operating safely whilst maximising coverage and uptake 
within their local populations.  Public Health Teams are responsible for protecting and improving the 
health of their local population under the leadership of the Director of Public Health, including 
supporting NHSE/I in efforts to improve programme coverage and uptake. 

 
The South West Screening and Immunisation Team provides quarterly reports to the Health 
Protection Committee for each of the national screening and immunisation programmes.  Reports 
are considered by lead Local Authority Consultants in Public Health and any risks identified are 
considered with NHSE/I specialists to agree mitigating activities. 
 
Serious incidents that occur in the delivery of programmes are reported to the Director of Public 
Health for the Local Authority and to the Health Protection Committee. 
 
Locality Immunisation Group activity was suspended during the pandemic but is being re-introduced 
from 2022.   
 
Separate planning and oversight groups are in place for seasonal influenza.   
 
There are oversight groups (Programme Boards) for all screening programmes and these form part 
of the local assurance mechanisms to identify risks and oversee continuous quality improvement.  
In addition, specific project groups are convened, as necessary, to oversee significant developments 
in the programmes and the introduction of new programmes. 
 
All the oversight groups have Terms of Reference and clear escalation routes to ensure 
accountability both within NHS England and Improvement and into individual partners. 

 
Healthcare associated infections 
 
NHS England and NHS Improvement sets out and monitors the NHS Outcomes Framework which 
includes Domain Five (safety): treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting 
them from avoidable harm.  The Area Locality Teams of NHS England and NHS Improvement hold 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 22 of 26 
 

local Clinical Commissioning Groups to account for performance against indicators under this 
domain, which includes incidence of healthcare associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus 
aureus (MRSA) bacteraemia and incidence of Clostridium difficile infection (CDI). 
 
Public Health England, through its consultants in communicable disease control, leads the 
epidemiological investigation and the specialist health protection response to wider community non-
hospital outbreaks, and is responsible for declaring a health protection incident. 
 
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s role is to ensure, through contractual arrangements with 
provider organisations, that health care associated infection standard operating procedures are in 
all provider contracts and are monitored regularly.  NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group 
deploys this role through the Nursing and Quality portfolio.  In addition, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups must be assured that the Infection Prevention and Control Teams covering the hospital and 
NHS community healthcare provided services sector are robust enough to respond appropriately to 
protect the local population’s health, and that risks of health care associated infection have been 
identified, are mitigated against, and are adequately controlled. 
 
The Local Authority, through the Director of Public Health or their designate, has overall responsibility 
for the strategic oversight of a health care associated infection incident affecting their population’s 
health.  They should ensure that an appropriate response is put in place by NHS England and NHS 
Improvement and Public Health England, supported by the Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The Devon Infection Prevention & Control (IPC) Forum is a forum for all stakeholders working 
towards the elimination of avoidable health care associated infections (HCAI) for the population of 
Devon, including the Unitary Authorities of Plymouth and Torbay.  The group covers health and 
social care interventions in clinical, home and residential care environments, identifying risks, 
sharing best practice and collaborating in system-wide approaches.  The group is co-ordinated by 
NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group and is a cross-agency forum involving Acute and 
Community NHS Trusts, Ambulance and Out of Hours Doctors, Local Authority Public Health, Public 
Health England, Medicines Optimisation and NHS England and NHS Improvement. The Group 
meets quarterly with more frequent sub-groups as required.  
 
In Cornwall there is a Directors of Infection Control Group with multi-agency attendance working on 
a similar agenda, also reporting into the Health Protection Committee.  There is cross-attendance 
between the Devon and Cornwall groups. 

 
Emergency planning and response 
 
Local resilience forums (LRFs) are multi-agency partnerships made up of representatives from local 
public services, including the emergency services, local authorities, the NHS, the Environment 
Agency, and others.  These agencies are known as Category 1 Responders, as defined by the Civil 
Contingencies Act.  The geographical area the forums cover is based on police areas (Devon, 
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly). 
 
The LRFs aim to plan and prepare for localised incidents and catastrophic emergencies.  They work 
to identify potential risks and produce emergency plans to either prevent or mitigate the impact of 
any incident on their local communities. 
 
The Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) is a strategic forum for organisations in the local 
health sector.  The LHRP facilitates health sector preparedness and planning for emergencies at 
Local Resilience Forum (LRF) level.  It supports the NHS, Public Health England (PHE) and local 
authority (LA) representatives on the LRF in their role to represent health sector Emergency 
Planning, Resilience and Response (EPRR) matters. 
 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 23 of 26 
 

All Councils continue to engage with the Local Resilience Forum and the Local Health Resilience 
Partnership in undertaking their local engagement, joint working, annual exercise programme, 
responding to incidents and undertaking learning as required. 
 

  

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 24 of 26 
 

 
 

Appendix 3 
 

Immunisation Performance 2020/21 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Devon Plymouth Torbay

Cornwall 

and IoS South West England

Cohort 6,536       2,776       1,162       4,878       53,163           610,509    

DTaP/IPV/Hib/HepB % 95.9          94.7          96.4          93.4          94.8                92.0           

MenB % 95.7          95.0          96.3          93.3          94.7                92.1           

Rota % 93.7          92.4          92.6          91.6          92.8                90.2           

Cohort 6,926       2,906       1,282       5,134       55,376           630,876    

DTaP/IPV/Hib/HepB % 96.3          97.0          95.9          95.1          95.8                93.8           

Hib/MenC % 94.1          94.8          93.4          91.9          93.2                90.2           

MenB/booster % 94.1          94.4          92.4          90.7          92.5                89.0           

MMR % 94.4          95.2          93.6          92.1          93.3                90.3           

PCV % 94.3          94.8          93.4          92.2          93.3                90.1           

Cohort 7,836       3,279       1,446       5,936       62,245           693,928    

DTaP/IPV % 89.9          91.6          90.1          87.7          89.7                85.3           

DTaP/IPV/Hib % 96.9          98.0          97.4          96.5          96.8                95.2           

Hib/MenC % 94.9          96.3          96.1          95.0          95.2                92.3           

MMR1 % 96.1          97.4          96.7          95.5          96.0                94.3           

MMR2 % 92.4          93.5          91.6          90.2          91.2                86.6           

5Y

12M

24M

Childhood Immunisations

Shingles vaccination

Devon Torbay Plymouth Cornwall IoS

 Turning 71 and over 4,185,341    91,557      14,690      17,601         61,413             123,848    

Vaccine coverage (%) 61.4% 61.8% 57.5% 59.8% 59.1% 61.0%

Devon Torbay Plymouth Cornwall IoS

 Turning 71-78 (routine cohort) 3,606,055    78,938      12,703      15,231         53,431             106,872    

Vaccine coverage (%) 62.7% 63.0% 58.4% 61.3% 60.1% 62.2%

Devon Torbay Plymouth Cornwall IoS

 Turning 79 and 80 (catchup cohort) 579,286       12,619      1,987         2,370            7,982               16,976      

Vaccine coverage (%) 53.3% 54.7% 52.1% 50.2% 52.5% 53.7%

NHS 

DEVON 

Local authority

NHS 

DEVON 

Local authority

Cohort England
NHS 

DEVON 

Local authority

Cohort England

Cohort England

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 25 of 26 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Devon Plymouth Torbay Cornwall IoS South West England

65+ Cohort 211,769 42,787      39,100   143,812       1,270,751   10,448,410  

Coverage 82.8        81.2           79.8        80.3               82.8             80.9               

6months -65 years

clinical risk groups Cohort 109,527 37,118      21,610   80,907          794,012      8,098,035     

Coverage 58.1        52.3           54.8        54.2               57.2             53.0               

Pregnant Cohort 6,027     2,401        1,253     3,786            52,184        606,540        

Coverage 50.5        45.0           43.8        32.6               46.4             43.6               

Seasonal flu vaccine uptake 1/9/2020-28/2/2021

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE 

Page 26 of 26 
 

 
 

Appendix 4 
 

Screening Performance 2020/21 
 
 

Cancer screening programmes  
 
 

 
 
 

Non cancer screening – diabetic eye screening 
 
 

 

Indicator

Lower 

threshold Standard Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Devon 79.2 80.4 80.1 80.0 79.1 79.1 78.8 78.3 78.3 78.2 78.1

England 76.9 77.1 76.9 76.3 75.9 79.2 78.9 78.5 78.3 78.2 77.6

Devon 79.1 78.0 77.0 75.2 75.7 76.1 75.3 74.9 75.1 76.7 77.2

England 78.0 77.6 77.2 75.2 75.2 74.9 74.4 74.0 73.8 75.0 75.6

Devon 82.6 82.2 81.6 81.1 80.2 80.1 79.8 79.0 78.1 78.2 78.4

England 81.5 82.3 82.0 81.6 81.1 80.4 80.1 79.4 78.5 78.6 78.8

Devon 60.5 62.6 64.2 64.2 65.4 69.0

England 62.0 62.7 63.6 63.4 64.1 67.9

Indicator

Lower 

threshold Standard Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Plymouth 79.9 80.6 80.1 78.7 78.4 79.1 79.3 79.0 78.2 78.2 77.4

England 76.9 77.1 76.9 76.3 75.9 79.2 78.9 78.5 78.3 78.2 77.6

Plymouth 75.2 74.3 74.6 73.5 73.9 73.7 72.6 71.7 71.5 73.1 73.7

England 78.0 77.6 77.2 75.2 75.2 74.9 74.4 74.0 73.8 75.0 75.6

Plymouth 81.2 80.7 80.9 80.6 80.2 79.3 78.7 77.7 76.2 75.9 76.0

England 81.5 82.3 82.0 81.6 81.1 80.4 80.1 79.4 78.5 78.6 78.8

Plymouth 61.3 61.6 61.1 61.6 61.9 66.5

England 62.0 62.7 63.6 63.4 64.1 67.9

Indicator

Lower 

threshold Standard Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Torbay 79.2 78.6 76.9 77.0 76.5 76.7 74.7 74.1 74.4 74.2 77.0

England 76.9 77.1 76.9 76.3 75.9 79.2 78.9 78.5 78.3 78.2 77.6

Torbay 75.4 75.0 75.1 73.4 74.0 73.9 72.7 71.9 71.5 73.4 74.3

England 78.0 77.6 77.2 75.2 75.2 74.9 74.4 74.0 73.8 75.0 75.6

Torbay 80.5 79.4 79.5 79.4 79.4 79.1 78.1 76.9 75.2 75.0 75.2

England 81.5 82.3 82.0 81.6 81.1 80.4 80.1 79.4 78.5 78.6 78.8

Torbay 62.0 61.4 61.8 61.1 62.1 65.4

England 62.0 62.7 63.6 63.4 64.1 67.9

Indicator

Lower 

threshold Standard Geography 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Cornwall 80.0 79.8 79.3 79.9 80.1 80.3 80.0 79.3 78.4 78.2 78.1

England 76.9 77.1 76.9 76.3 75.9 79.2 78.9 78.5 78.3 78.2 77.6

Cornwall 76.2 75.4 75.7 74.0 74.8 75.2 74.3 73.4 73.4 75.0 75.9

England 78.0 77.6 77.2 75.2 75.2 74.9 74.4 74.0 73.8 75.0 75.6

Cornwall 80.0 79.7 80.0 79.4 78.8 78.2 77.8 77.2 76.3 76.1 76.0

England 81.5 82.3 82.0 81.6 81.1 80.4 80.1 79.4 78.5 78.6 78.8

Cornwall 58.3 60.5 61.7 61.5 62.7 66.6

England 62.0 62.7 63.6 63.4 64.1 67.9

2.20i - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) 70 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 25-

49 (%)
75 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 50-

64 (%)
75 80

2.20iii - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%)* 55 60

2.20i - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) 70 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 25-

49 (%)
75 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 50-

64 (%)
75 80

2.20iii - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%)* 55 60

2.20i - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) 70 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 25-

49 (%)
75 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 50-

64 (%)
75 80

2.20iii - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%)* 55 60

2.20i - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer (%) 70 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 25-

49 (%)
75 80

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer age 50-

64 (%)
75 80

2.20iii - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer (%)* 55 60

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



 

Maria Moloney-Lucey, 2022 
Public Health Intelligence Specialist 
Devon Public Health 

 

Overview of alcohol in those under 18 years of age in Devon 

 

Risk taking behaviour among young people is declining at a population level. Teenagers are less likely to 

smoke, drink and take drugs. However, alcohol consumption in younger people in the UK continues to be 

higher than the European average. Underage drinking poses a range of risks and negative consequences. 

These include injuries, impairs judgement, increases risk of physical and sexual assault, increases risk of 

alcohol problems later in life, death, interferes with brain development, increased risk of using other 

substances and antisocial activities. Young people may drink as a way of asserting independence, peer 

pressure, stress and/or home life environment. Often, they do not fully recognise the impact on health and 

behaviours.  

 

The purpose of this overview is to provide an overview of the available data on alcohol use and harm among 

those under 18 years of age in Devon. 

 

 

 

Risk factors 

 

There may be many different reasons which 

influence underage drinking, and these can 

include: 

 

• Genetics 

• Biological markers 

• Childhood behaviour 

• Psychiatric disorders 

• Psychosocial disorders 

o Family dynamics 

o Positive expectancies 

o Childhood trauma 

o Alcohol advertising and pricing 

• Emotional and behavioural problems 

 

 

 

 

 

Some of the risk factors above may also be 

influenced by wider determinants of health and 

therefore they can be described as a symptom of  

a wider issue rather than the cause of underage 

drinking. Influencing some of these risk factors 

may help to prevent some of the risk factors 

associated with underage drinking.  

 

Figure 1: Dahlgren and Whitehead model of 

health determinants 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



 

Maria Moloney-Lucey, 2022 
Public Health Intelligence Specialist 
Devon Public Health 

 

Prevalence 

 

According to the Smoking, Drinking 

and Drug survey amongst young 

people in England 2018, around 44% of children 

aged 11 to 15 years reported they had ever had an 

alcohol drink. This proportion has continued to 

reduce over the past two decades. When 

expressed by age, there is a clear relationship with 

age and so as age increases, the likelihood of 

admission for alcohol specific conditions increase.  

 

Hospital admissions 

 

Alcohol specific admissions are 

defined as any admission in persons 

under 18 years of age where the 

primary or secondary diagnosis are an alcohol-

specific (wholly attributable) condition. 

 

On average each year there are around 80 alcohol 

specific admissions among those aged 18 years 

and younger in Devon. Higher counts tend to be 

among those aged 15 to 19 years, followed by 10 

to 14 years.  

 

Trends 

 

Trends over the past decade show 

little change in rates. Recent data 

shows that Devon has a rate of 52.2 

per 100,000, a rate significantly higher compared 

to the England average (29.3 per 100,000).  

 

 

 

Interesting when observing rates nationally, many 

local authorities in the London region tend to have 

significantly lower rates compared to the England 

average. Please note that lower rates in the 

London region may skew the overall England rate.  

 

Exploratory analyses carried out by Public Health 

England in 2019 for emergency admission rates 

identified a similar finding for self-harm 

admissions. The potential hypothesis for this 

difference at the time was around how services 

may be configured in London. Given that just over 

a third of alcohol specific admission in this data 

would also be classified as self-harm, a similar 

hypothesis could explain some of the higher rates 

of alcohol admissions for under 18 years in the 

Southwest region. 

 

In addition, it was suggested that higher 

admissions rates may also be an indicator of better 

care, stricter adherence to NICE guidance, better 

health-seeking attitudes and/or engagement with 

health services, or a combination of two or more of 

these factors.  

 

Deprivation 

 

There is an association between deprivation and 

under 18 alcohol specific admissions. As levels of 

deprivation increase, the likelihood of admission 

increases. Moreover, higher rates are observed 

from the most deprived areas of Devon compared 

to the least deprived areas.  

 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 9



 

Maria Moloney-Lucey, 2022 
Public Health Intelligence Specialist 
Devon Public Health 

Variation 

 

Analysis by lower super output area (LSOA) show 

that there are areas in Devon which have almost a 

13-fold difference in terms of rates. Heavitree Fore 

Street area has a rate of 218.1 per 100,000 

compared North-East of Exeter Broadclyst 

(South), Politmore, Dog Village and surrounding 

areas with a rate of 17.6 per 100,000. Higher rates 

in the Heavitree area may also be indicative of the 

fact that it is an area with higher student 

accommodation. Please note that at smaller 

geographical levels, counts are small and can vary 

significantly each year.  

 

Primary diagnosis 

 

Recent data show that on average over a third of 

under 18 alcohol admissions present with a 

primary diagnosis of 4-Aminophenol derivatives 

(such as paracetamol) or Benzodiazepines with 

secondary diagnosis of alcohol specific conditions. 

This combination of conditions is also classified as 

self-harm which perhaps could indicate a degree 

of complexity associated with certain individuals 

admitted rather than just an acute illness due to 

over consumption of alcohol.  

 

Treatment 

 

About Y-SMART 

 

Y-SMART is currently funded by multiple 

stakeholders (Public Health, Childrens Services 

(both Devon County Council), Youth Offending 

Team, Office of Police and Crime Commissioner.  

 

Y-SMART provides support to children and young 

people aged up to 18 years (or up to age 24 years 

if known to the care system) who wish to address 

their alcohol or other drug use. In addition, Y-

SMART also provides support to children and 

young people affected by parental substance 

misuse (Y-Project). This aspect of the contract is 

funded by the Office of Police and Crime 

Commissioner.  

 

Y-SMART is part of Children Services and helps 

inform the Personal Social Health and Economic 

(PSHE) education offer available to mainstream 

schools and promotes the use of Public Health 

England’s educational toolkits for drugs and 

alcohol. Y-SMART deliver targeted educational 

interventions to specialist education 

settings.  There are currently 17.26 whole time 

equivalents (wte) employed across Devon 

supporting the service delivery (13.76 wte with a 

caseload).  

 

Referral routes 

 

There are a range of referring partners with 

individuals also being able to self-refer to Y-

SMART. For 2020/21 this includes: 

 

• Mainstream education (23%) 

• Children and family services (14%)  

• Youth offending (11%)  

• Self-referral (7%) 

• Hospital setting (1%)  

• Unknown referral route (44%) 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



 

Maria Moloney-Lucey, 2022 
Public Health Intelligence Specialist 
Devon Public Health 

 

Referral types 

 

Most of the referrals seek support around alcohol 

or cannabis use. However, many service users 

(79%) often report using more than one 

substance1. 

 

Needs and outcomes 

 

In 2020/21, 98% of service users accessing Tier 3 

treatment completed their goals demonstrating the 

effectiveness of the support provided.  

 

70% of service users engaged in self-harm 

demonstrating the need to increase resilience in 

children and young people and improve the access 

to mental and sexual health support within the Y-

SMART offer.  

 

Latest data available for 2020/21 indicate that 

Devon has higher rates compared to England for 

children and young people accessing substance 

misuse treatment with a co-existing mental health 

need2.  

 

62% of those identified as having a co-existing 

mental health need are receiving treatment for 

their mental health in Devon compared to 67% in 

England. This indicates that almost a third of 

young people in Devon with a mental health need 

are not being treated. Further work may be 

required to understand the reasons behind this.  

 

  

 
1 Y-SMART (2020/21) Annual Report 

 

In terms of housing status, across Devon there is 

a higher proportion of children living in care 

accessing treatment compared to England (10% 

and 7% respectively). This could suggest that the 

Y-SMART service is effective and attractive in 

supporting children living in care into treatment. 

Whilst also potentially indicating that children in 

care have an increased risk of substance misuse. 

 

The level of vulnerability in the Devon youth 

substance misuse treatment population is also a 

concern with worsening trends in a number of 

areas including self-harm, sexual exploitation, and 

children affected by domestic abuse.  

 

Gaps/Opportunities 

 

Scotland and Wales have introduced minimum unit 

pricing to tackle the harms caused by high strength 

low-cost alcohol products (white cider in 

particular). At present there does not appear to be 

government support to introduce minimum unit 

pricing in England. The governments Harm to 

Hope Drug Strategy focuses predominantly on 

addressing the harms caused by drugs though 

some of the Supplementary Substance Misuse 

Treatment Grant (SSMTG) which can be used to 

address harms caused by alcohol.  

 

The SSMTG provides us with an opportunity to 

improve the integration of services and to establish 

and develop pathways between key parts of the 

system. The newly formed Local Partnership set 

up to inform how the grant funding is to be 

2 National Drug and Treatment Monitoring System (2022) 

Page 44

Agenda Item 9



 

Maria Moloney-Lucey, 2022 
Public Health Intelligence Specialist 
Devon Public Health 

allocated wish to increase investment in children 

and young people’s service and in improving the 

pathway between hospital and the community 

service.  

 

There is currently a review of the PSHE offer being 

undertaken by the Public Health Team and over 

the next 3 years it is anticipated that the SSMTG 

provides opportunities to improve the integration of 

substance misuse and mental health treatment 

offers. 

 

Nationally the indication is that parents, friends, or 

family are the main source of providing alcohol 

consumed by children and young people who end 

up being admitted to hospital3. 

 

 

Summary 

 

• Around 44% of children and young people 

aged 11 to 17 years have ever had an 

alcoholic drink. A reducing trend over the 

last two decades. 

• Alcohol specific admissions in those under 

18 years continues to be significantly 

higher compared to the England average 

and has not vastly changed over the past 

decade. 

• In some areas across Devon there is a 13-

fold difference in alcohol admission rates. 

• Alcohol admissions increase as deprivation 

increases. 

 
3 NHS Digital (2020) Part 5: Drinking behaviours among 
children 

• Just over a third of admissions present with 

a primary diagnosis of 4-Aminophenol 

derivatives (such as paracetamol) or 

Benzodiazepines indicating that some 

admissions may be more complex. 

• 271 children and young people accessing 

treatment (Tiers 2 and 3 in 2020/21). 

• Many service users have co-existing 

mental health needs of which around a 

third are not currently being treated. 

• There may be an increased risk of 

substance misuse among those that are 

vulnerable such as children in care and 

those affected by self-harm, sexual 

exploitation, and domestic abuse.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9





HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD – FORWARD PLAN 
 
 

Meeting dates Matter for Consideration 
 

14 July 2022 Performance / Themed Items 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy Priorities and Outcomes Monitoring 
Theme Based Item (TBC) 
 
Business / Matters for Decision 
Better Care Fund - frequency of reporting TBC 
JSNA/ Strategy Refresh (June) 
Self-harm in Children & Young People update 
Homeless Reduction Act: 12 month update 
Integrated Care Systems 
CCG Updates  
 
Other Matters 
Scrutiny Work Programme / References, Board Forward Plan, Briefing 
Papers, Updates & Matters for Information 
 

20 October 2022  Performance / Themed Items 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy Priorities and Outcomes Monitoring 
Theme Based Item (TBC) 
 
Business / Matters for Decision 
Better Care Fund - frequency of reporting TBC 
CCG Updates 
Adults Safeguarding annual report (September / December) 
 
Other Matters 
Scrutiny Work Programme / References, Board Forward Plan, Briefing 
Papers, Updates & Matters for Information 
 

19 January 2023 Performance / Themed Items 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy Priorities and Outcomes Monitoring 
Theme Based Item (TBC) 
 
Business / Matters for Decision 
Better Care Fund - frequency of reporting TBC 
CCG Updates 
Joint Commissioning Strategies – Actions Plans (Annual Report – Dec) 
 
Other Matters 
Scrutiny Work Programme / References, Board Forward Plan, Briefing 
Papers, Updates & Matters for Information 
 

6 April 2023  

Annual Reporting Adults Safeguarding annual report (September / December) 
Joint Commissioning Strategies – Actions Plans (Annual Report – 
December) 
JSNA / Strategy Refresh – (June) 

Other Issues  Equality & protected characteristics outcomes framework 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment  

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 14




	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Devon Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: Priorities and Outcomes Monitoring
	6 Better Care Fund - Update
	7 Annual Health Protection Assurance Report 2020/21
	9 Alcohol specific admissions in under 18s & links to deprivation
	14 Forward Plan

